# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC01-2706

CURTIS WINDOM,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-North Florida Bar No. 0320234

JEFFREY M. HAZEN Assistant CCRC-N Florida Bar No. 0153060

JENNIFER L. BLAKEMAN Assistant CCRC-N Florida Bar No. 506877

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida 1533-B South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 3, 1992, an Orange County grand jury indicted Mr. Windom on three counts of first-degree murder and one count of attempted first-degree murder. (R. 153-55, 268-70) There was no indictment alleging any applicable aggravating circumstances under Florida Statute 921.141.

On August 28, 1992, a jury found Mr. Windom guilty on all counts as charged. (R. 301-04, 726)

On September 28, 1992, a jury recommended death for the three murder convictions. (PP-R. 108-09) On November 10, 1992, the trial court followed the jury's recommendation and imposed a death sentence for all three murder convictions. (R. 129-131, 305-08, 355-63)

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Windom's convictions and sentences. <u>Windom v. State</u>, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u>, 116 S.Ct. 571 (1995).

Mr. Windom filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion on March 19, 1997. On August 4, 2000, Mr. Windom filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing in this matter June 4-7, 2001. The trial court thereafter denied relief in an order dated November 1, 2001. (PC-R. 2622-68) This appeal follows.

## II. STATEMENT REGARDING THE PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS

At the penalty phase of Mr. Windom's trial, his trial attorney waived the opportunity to present mitigation evidence

and witnesses to the jury. (PP-R. 38) Trial counsel stated, in a vague manner, that the decision to waive the presentation of mitigation was so that the jury would not hear about "cocaine." (PP-R. 39) Trial counsel cited to the possibility that the state may ask "questions in cross-examination that I may find highly objectionable." (PP-R. 40) Trial counsel stated that he spoke with Mr. Windom about the waiver during a lunch recess. (PP-R. 41) Mr. Windom, when asked whether he was in agreement with the waiver, stated, "yes. . . because he don't want the drug thing to come in." (Id.)

## III. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Jonathan Pincus testified that he is a neurologist and described neurology as the study of medical illness that affects the brain. (PC-R. 509) Dr. Pincus was qualified as an expert in neurology. (PC-R. 511)

Dr. Pincus described a neurological evaluation as consisting of a historical and physical assessment. (Id.) Dr. Pincus conducted a neurological assessment of Mr. Windom and prepared a report of that assessment. (PC-R. 522)

Dr. Pincus reviewed background materials on Mr. Windom that were provided by postconviction counsel and explained that these materials were the type normally relied upon by mental health experts. (PC-R. 523-24) Dr. Pincus also reviewed the report of Dr. Craig Beaver, a videotape of Mr. Windom at the police station shortly after arrest, the deposition of Dr. Sidney Merin, and Department of Corrections

records pertaining to Mr. Windom's postconviction incarceration. (PC-R. 525-27) Dr. Pincus spoke with members of Mr. Windom's family. (PC-R. 528)

Dr. Pincus summarized his findings, stating that Mr. Windom was psychotic at the time of the crimes, is mentally ill, and is neurologically impaired. (PC-R. 529)

Specifically, Dr. Pincus testified that, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Mr. Windom suffers from frontal lobe damage to the brain. (PC-R. 530)

Dr. Pincus testified that the frontal lobe of the brain is responsible for motivation, judgment, and conforming behavior to societal norms. (PC-R. 532) Frontal lobe damage results in an individual's inability to anticipate circumstances and change plans as a result. (PC-R. 535)

Dr. Pincus described Mr. Windom's cerebral damage as including abnormal visual tracking, motor impersistence, and abnormal reflexes. (PC-R. 541-42) Mr. Windom performed poorly on several physical tests administered by Dr. Pincus. (PC-R. 542-47) Mr. Windom also suffers from a longstanding speech impediment that is indicative of brain dysfunction. (PC-R. 549-50) Dr. Pincus testified that based on testing he administered, Mr. Windom is unable to read above a seventh grade level. (PC-R. 548) Dr. Pincus stated that Mr. Windom unequivocally suffers from brain damage. (PC-R. 549) Dr. Pincus found that Mr. Windom was not malingering. (PC-R. 547)

Dr. Pincus testified that there are several possible causes for Mr. Windom's brain damage, including an incident where Mr. Windom was

dropped onto the floor during labor and a rollover vehicle accident during which Mr. Windom was rendered unconscious. (PC-R. 550-52)

Family members of Mr. Windom reported to Dr. Pincus that Mr. Windom's behavior changed significantly after the car accident, with Mr.

Windom becoming increasingly paranoid and withdrawn. (PC-R. 552-53)

Dr. Pincus observed scars on Mr. Windom's back which Mr. Windom related were from beatings by his father. (PC-R. 553) Members of Mr. Windom's family related to Dr. Pincus that Mr. Windom's father was a very brutal man. (Id.) The family additionally related that Mr. Windom's father continually beat Mr. Windom's mother, splitting her head open and threatening her with a knife. (Id.) Dr. Pincus testified that in Mr. Windom's history he found many of the earmarks of abused children, including bed wetting. (Id.) As a consequence of the bladder control problem, Mr. Windom was often forced to go to school smelling of urine and was mercilessly teased as a result. (PC-R. 554) Dr. Pincus opined that the beatings could be a factor in Mr. Windom's brain damage. (Id.)

Dr. Pincus testified that in addition to suffering from brain damage, Mr. Windom was also psychotic at the time of the charged crimes. (PC-R. 557) Mr. Windom was suffering auditory hallucinations at the time of the crime whereby a voice was telling him he had to die. (PC-R. 557) Mr. Windom was also suffering from delusional paranoia at the time of the incident in that he thought people were plotting against and seeking to kill him. (Id.) Mr. Windom's family members related that he had a history of paranoia about being shot by someone else. (PC-R. 558) As a result of this paranoia, Mr. Windom

began to carry a gun for protection. (PC-R. 559) Further, he became unable to relax or sleep regularly and his usual neat appearance deteriorated. (PC-R. 560) Mr. Windom also suffered from mania, characterized by excessive gambling and spending, as well as hypersexuality. (PC-R. 560-61) Mr. Windom, not normally a heavy drinker, drank a six-pack of beer on the night before the charged crimes. (PC-R. 562) People with brain damage are more sensitive to the effects of alcohol and are less able to resist the temptations of mental illness. (PC-R. 562-63) Dr. Pincus stated that Mr. Windom's combined brain damage and mental illness decreased his capacity to control his behavior and added that the mental illness led to increased paranoia. (Id.) Brain damage prevented Mr. Windom from controlling the impulses created by the paranoia. (Id.)

Dr. Pincus stated, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that at the time of the crimes, Mr. Windom was unable to distinguish right from wrong or to premeditate the crimes for which he was charged. (PC-R. 564) Further, Dr. Pincus stated that the statutory mental health mitigating factors are applicable to Mr. Windom's case. (PC-R. 568-69) Dr. Pincus testified that he feels Mr. Windom suffers from dissociative disorder and this is specifically indicated by his inability to remember the shooting of his girlfriend. (PC-R. 570)

On cross-examination, Dr. Pincus stated that Mr. Windom indicated to him that he had previously been arrested for drug-related crimes. (PC-R. 572) Dr. Pincus reviewed reports of drug arrests of Mr. Windom and stated that he does not feel Mr. Windom's

drug arrests in the months preceding the homicides were the source of Mr. Windom's paranoia. (PC-R. 576-78)

Dr. Pincus opined that the shooting of Johnnie Lee was motivated by Mr. Windom's delusion that Johnnie planned to kill him. (PC-R. 588-89) Dr. Pincus did not agree that the shooting of Johnnie was well-planned or that the consequences were considered. (PC-R. 594)

Dr. Pincus testified that both defense and state mental health experts agree that Mr. Windom is being truthful about this lack of recollection of shooting his girlfriend. (PC-R. 599)

Dr. Pincus explained that persons with frontal lobe damage lose control under pressure. (PC-R. 603) Dr. Pincus testified that there was a history of this loss of control in Mr. Windom. (PC-R. 603-04) Although brain damaged persons maintain considerable free will, the scope of that free will is seriously diminished when mental illness and a history of abuse are factored in. (PC-R. 606)

The primary character traits of Mr. Windom, as described by witnesses to Dr. Pincus, were kindness and generosity. (PC-R. 604)

Dr. Pincus stated that DOC records of Mr. Windom's postconviction incarceration were insignificant in terms of the causation of Mr. Windom's brain damage. (PC-R. 610)

Dr. Pincus opined that the shootings of Johnnie Lee and Valarie Davis were not premeditated, given Mr. Windom's mental state. (PC-R. 617)

Dr. Pincus stated that all of the mental health experts in the case believe Mr. Windom is being truthful about his auditory

hallucinations. (Id.) Mr. Windom mentioned the auditory hallucinations to Dr. Kirkland prior to trial. (PC-R. 630)

Dr. Craig Beaver testified at the evidentiary hearing that he is a licensed psychologist and was admitted as an expert in psychology and neuropsychology. (PC-R. 633, 638)

Dr. Beaver performed a psychological and neuropsychological evaluation of Mr. Windom and reviewed background materials related to Mr. Windom prior to the evaluation. (PC-R. 638) Dr. Beaver also reviewed a videotape of Mr. Windom taken at the police station after his arrest. (PC-R. 639) Dr. Beaver also administered a variety of neuropsychological tests to Mr. Windom, reviewed affidavits of witnesses, and reviewed the deposition of Dr. Sidney Merin. (PC-R. 640-42) Additionally, Dr. Beaver discussed the facts of the case and the trial evidence with postconviction counsel. (PC-R. 641) Dr. Beaver testified that Mr. Windom was not malingering on the neuropsychological tests. (Id.)

Dr. Beaver stated that his testing revealed Mr. Windom to be in the dull normal to borderline mentally deficient range of intelligence and having particular difficulty in communicating and understanding language. (PC-R. 642-43) Mr. Windom has a speech impediment that could be an indication of neurological impairment. (PC-R. 644) Mr. Windom shows evidence of brain dysfunction, demonstrated by poor performance on tests of reasoning, judgment, and problem solving. (PC-R. 643-54)

Dr. Beaver stated that persons with brain damage tend to be unable to cope with stress effectively and, based on his review, Mr.

Windom was under a high level of stress at the time of the charged crimes. (PC-R. 646-47) Dr. Beaver learned that 2 years prior to the instant crimes, Mr. Windom had been shot in a drive-by shooting in which a woman he was with was killed and that he was much more anxious and nervous after that incident. (PC-R. 647) Additionally, in the time leading up to the instant crimes, Mr. Windom had his home burglarized, had received threatening phone calls, and had been arrested. (PC-R. 648) All of these things contributed to Mr. Windom being in a state of stress. (Id.) Mr. Windom's family members described an abrupt change in Mr. Windom's behavior in the 2 weeks prior to the homicides, including a marked change in his normally neat personal appearance. (PC-R. 648-49) Further, Mr. Windom was speaking rapidly and not making sense. (PC-R. 650)

Dr. Beaver testified that in the period leading up to the crimes, Mr. Windom was suffering from paranoia and auditory hallucinations and further, showed marked signs of paranoia in the tests administered by Dr. Merin. (PC-R. 650-51) Mr. Windom was also in a manic stage just prior to the shootings. (PC-R. 652)

Dr. Beaver testified that there is a history of psychiatric illness in Mr. Windom's family, including psychiatric hospitalizations of his mother. (PC-R. 653) The Minnesota Muitiphasic Personality Inventory ("MMPI") performed by Dr. Merin indicates that Mr. Windom is at high risk for psychotic episodes. (PC-R. 653) A person with brain damage is less able to cope with mental illness than a non-damaged person. (PC-R. 654)

Mr. Windom had head injuries at birth and at age 16. (PC-R.

658-60)

Dr. Beaver opined that Mr. Windom had a variety of factors acting upon him at the time of the crimes, including low intellectual functioning, brain damage, mental illness, limited social upbringing, and current personal problems, all of which came to a head, causing Mr. Windom to lose control. (PC-R. 661-62) Dr. Beaver stated his opinion that, based on the combination of factors acting upon him, the statutory mental health mitigating factors are applicable to Mr. Windom's case. (PC-R. 663, 683) Mr. Windom's thinking at the time of the crimes was not rational or realistic. (PC-R. 663)

Dr. Beaver testified that, based on all of the factors acting on Mr. Windom, his ability to think and make rational decisions was impaired at the time of the crimes. (PC-R. 664-65)

Dr. Beaver opined that Mr. Windom's actions at the time of the crime were nonsensical and not indicative of premeditation. (PC-R. 667-68)

Dr. Beaver testified that Mr. Windom suffered from dissociative amnesia for at least part of the offense. (PC-R. 668) Further, Dr. Beaver stated his opinion that Mr. Windom was experiencing an acute psychotic episode at the time of the offense and bordered on being delusional. (PC-R. 670, 676) Dr. Beaver opined that Mr. Windom suffers from either bipolar disorder, depressive disorder with mood congruent psychotic feature, or paranoid schizophrenia, all of which are major mental illnesses (PC-R. 676) Dr. Beaver also stated his opinion that Mr. Windom suffers from dementia and has a learning disability. (PC-R. 672-73)

Given the combination of mental health problems acting on Mr. Windom, Dr. Beaver stated his opinion that at the time of the crime, Mr. Windom was confused, dazed, and in fear for his life. (PC-R. 681-83) Mr. Windom's ability to plan a murder was impeded. (PC-R. 681)

Dr. Beaver testified that he found numerous elements of non-statutory mitigation in reviewing Mr. Windom's case. (PC-R. 684) Mr. Windom grew up in a poverty-stricken home, had an abusive father and an emotionally unstable mother, and suffered from a speech impediment for which he was teased by other children. (Id.) Mr. Windom also had a bedwetting problem and was forced to go to school with his clothes smelling of urine. (Id.) Mr. Windom struggled in school, receiving essentially no education, and eventually dropped out. (PC-R. 686) These factors would place Mr. Windom at a greater risk for mental illness. (PC-R. 709) Dr. Beaver also found that Mr. Windom was caring towards others. (Id.)

Dr. Beaver stated that his review of witness statements do not change his opinion of Mr. Windom's mental state at the time of the shootings. (PC-R. 718)

Dr. Beaver testified that speaking with witnesses about Mr. Windom's behavior in the years and weeks leading up to the crimes was critical to his diagnosis and further, that he would have been "seriously hampered" in his evaluation had he not had access to this information. (PC-R. 675-78) Dr. Beaver stated that it would be his obligation as a mental health professional to request such materials. (PC-R. 678)

Dr. Beaver testified that evidence of head injury would cause him to recommend neuropsychological testing. (Id.)

Dr. Beaver stated that Mr. Windom does not show signs of either borderline or anti-social personality disorder. (PC-R. 675-76)

On cross-examination, Dr. Beaver stated that he does not consider Mr. Windom's behavior in committing the homicide of Johnnie Lee rational. (PC-R. 694) Dr. Beaver agreed that Mr. Windom's legal problems with drug charges contributed to the duress he was under at the time of the crimes, but they were not the motivating force behind the crimes. (PC-R. 699-700) Dr. Beaver stated his opinion that Mr. Windom's extreme emotional distress is the most likely explanation for the crimes. (PC-R. 715) Dr. Beaver opined that based on his review of Mr. Windom's history, the charged crimes were out of character for him. (PC-R. 702) Further, Dr. Beaver stated that people with frontal lobe dysfunction can have long periods of docile behavior before a triggering event brings about an explosive episode. (PC-R. 703) Mr. Windom did not have a history of acting out with disinhibited behavior. (PC-R. 704)

Dr. Sidney Merin testified on behalf of the state at the hearing. (PC-R. 1102) Dr. Merin is a clinical psychologist and was admitted as an expert in psychology and neuropsychology. (PC-R. 1113)

Dr. Merin conducted an evaluation of Mr. Windom. (PC-R. 1114)

Dr. Merin reviewed the reports and depositions of Doctors Pincus and

Beaver, read the proffered trial testimony of Dr. Robert Kirkland,

and reviewed Mr. Windom's DOC medical records. (PC-R. 1116-19) Dr.

Merin also reviewed the videotape of Mr. Windom subsequent to his arrest. (PC-R. 1119)

Dr. Merin conducted tests of Mr. Windom aimed at measuring his ability to make judgments and control behavior. (PC-R. 1120) Mr. Windom was not malingering during the interview. (PC-R. 1130, 1184) Dr. Merin stated that Mr. Windom, during the evaluation, had no problem with initiative or inhibition. (PC-R. 1126)

Dr. Merin was aware of a history of head injury in Mr. Windom.

(Id.) Dr. Merin testified that Mr. Windom is of low intelligence and that there is a documented family history of low intelligence. (PC-R. 1128) Indicative of this was the low fund of information Mr. Windom demonstrated upon testing. (PC-R. 1133) Dr. Merin estimated Mr. Windom's I.Q. to be in the low 80's. (PC-R. 1149) Mr. Windom's speech is impaired. (Id.)

Dr. Merin administered an MMPI. (PC-R. 1132-72) Dr. Merin stated that Mr. Windom's MMPI score indicated suspicion and paranoia and his scores on the schizophrenia, mania, and depression scales of the MMPI were elevated. (PC-R. 1176, 1183)

Dr. Merin reviewed Mr. Windom's background and related that Mr. Windom grew up impoverished and uneducated, suffered from a bladder control problem for which he was made fun of, and suffered from a learning disability. (PC-R. 1179)

Dr. Merin opined that at the time of the crimes, Mr. Windom suffered from dissociative amnesia. (PC-R. 1191) Dr. Merin also stated that his opinion is that Mr. Windom suffers from an unspecified personality disorder. (PC-R. 1192) Dr. Merin further

stated that he did not find evidence of brain damage in Mr. Windom. (PC-R. 1197) Rather, Mr. Windom is a "slow thinker." (Id.)

Dr. Merin stated that he did not believe the statutory mental health mitigating factors apply and that Mr. Windom knew what he was doing at the time of the crime. (PC-R. 1199-1201)

On cross-examination, Dr. Merin testified that he last testified on behalf of a defendant in a postconviction action approximately 7 years ago and that most of his work is forensic, rather than clinical. (PC-R. 1207-09)

Dr. Merin conceded that a possible reason for Mr. Windom's low scores on inference and inductive reasoning tests is brain damage. (PC-R. 1218-21) A possible reason for Mr. Windom's low score on the finger tapping test, the Peabody Picture Test, and the Boston Naming Test, tests which measure frontal lobe performance, is brain damage. (PC-R. 1222-28)

Dr. Merin stated that he administered an incomplete intelligence test to Mr. Windom and, as a result, could not compute Mr. Windom's full scale I.O. (PC-R. 1234)

Dr. Merin testified that the MMPI results indicated paranoia in Mr. Windom. (PC-R. 1236) Dr. Merin stated that the schizophrenia scale of the MMPI can be used to diagnose schizophrenia and that Mr. Windom's scores on this scale were significantly elevated. (PC-R. 1237) Dr. Merin felt that Mr. Windom's scores on the schizophrenia scale simply indicated that he was "weird." (PC-R. 1240) Dr. Merin conceded that the high schizophrenia scores could indicate schizoid personality disorder. (PC-R. 1241) The MMPI also indicated that Mr.

Windom is obsessive, manic, and depressed. (PC-R. 1238-39, 1243) Dr. Merin determined Mr. Windom's MMPI scores for paranoia, schizophrenia, obsessiveness, mania, and depression to be psychologically significant. (PC-R. 1243) Dr. Merin opined that Mr. Windom's score on the MMPI indicates someone with either bipolar disorder or psychotic depression. (PC-R. 1244) Mr. Windom's score does not indicate anti-social personality disorder. (PC-R. 1245)

Dr. Merin is aware that witnesses found Mr. Windom's behavior and appearance in the weeks leading up to the shootings unusual. (PC-R. 1247) Mr. Windom was suffering from a sleep disorder and his speech was incoherent during this time. (Id.) Dr. Merin stated that these factual circumstances could indicate bipolar disorder. (PC-R. 1248) Also, information that Mr. Windom was an excessive spender, gambled, and was hypersexual could indicate bipolar disorder. (PC-R. 1254)

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