IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CURTIS WINDOM,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC01-2706

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

STATE OF FLORIDA'S ANSWER BRIEF ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood Center, Suite 700 2002 North Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 801-0600 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

(PCR-26, 2647-48). See Breedlove v. State, 692 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1997)(finding no prejudice under Strickland where the benefit of presenting additional witnesses during the penalty phase was largely offset by the damaging revelation of serious criminal misconduct).

Appellant's reliance upon this Court's decision in Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996) is misplaced. Trial counsel in Rose did not even investigate the defendant's mental status and failed to uncover and present a large amount of potential

mitigation.⁷ Significantly, this Court noted that in <u>Rose</u> the testimony of Dr. Toomer regarding the statutory mental mitigators during the evidentiary hearing was largely unimpeached. <u>Rose</u>, 675 So. 2d at 571.

In contrast, sub judice, not only did the State severely test the opinions of the defense doctors on cross-examination, but their testimony was contradicted by the expert called by the State, Dr. Merin. The trial court found Dr. Merin's testimony to be more credible than the testimony offered by the defense doctors. Moreover, the mitigation value of such testimony would be offset in this case by damaging information brought out through cross-examination and rebuttal evidence (drug dealing and drug related motives for the murders). A consideration not present in Rose. 8 Appellant "must demonstrate that there

⁷The other potential mitigation included the fact that Rose grew up in poverty, that he was emotionally and physically abused throughout his childhood, that he was locked in a closet by his mother for extended periods, that he suffered severe head injury in a 30 foot fall and suffered blackouts, that he had a learning disability, and was a chronic alcoholic.

⁸Upon remand for presentation of the additional non-statutory and statutory mitigation discussed in <u>Rose</u>, the jury again recommended and the trial court once again imposed the death sentence. The sentence was affirmed on direct appeal by this Court. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 787 So. 2d 786, 802 (Fla. 2001)[<u>Rose II</u>]. Interestingly enough, this Court noted that the trial court correctly rejected the opinion of Dr. Toomer that the statutory mental mitigators applied where his testimony was successfully impeached by the State on cross-examination. <u>Rose II</u>, at S215.

is a reasonable probability that, absent trial counsel's error, 'the sentencer ... would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.'" Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1048 (Fla. 2000), cert. denied, 122 S.Ct. 179 (2001) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695). Appellant made no such demonstration here. The trial court in this case found two valid statutory aggravating circumstances, CCP and prior violent felony convictions. These are two of the most weighty aggravating circumstances Florida's sentencing calculus. <u>See e.g.</u> <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 739 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 1999) (noting that heinous, atrocious, or cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravators are "two of the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme..."); Lindsey v. State, 636 So. 2d 1327 (Fla.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 972, 115 S.Ct. 444, 130 L.Ed.2d 354 (1994). Of particular weight is the fact that Windom committed multiple murders, killing three people and attempting to kill a fourth.9 Under the facts of this case, there is no reasonable probability

⁹Interestingly enough, appellant mentions the non-statutory mitigators that were developed included the fact he was caring toward others and that he neither used or abused drugs and alcohol. (Appellant's Brief at 62, 66). These circumstances are easily offset by the facts developed below. Appellant deprived one of his children of his mother and grandmother by murdering them. Moreover, while he may not have used drugs, he profited from selling the highly addictive drug cocaine to members of his community.

of a different sentence if Windom had presented the highly contested mental health evidence in mitigation. This evidence was not only contradicted by the State's expert, but was offset by the fact it opened the door to evidence that Windom was a successful cocaine dealer who suspected that two of his victims were police informants. Routly v. State, 590 So. 2d 397, 401-402 (Fla. 1991) (additional evidence as to defendant's difficult childhood and significant educational/behavioral problems did not provide a reasonable probability of life sentence if evidence had been presented); Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) (additional mitigation of history of alcohol abuse, abusive childhood, and defendant's military history would not make a difference in the sentence where the murders committed were "cold, calculated, and highly premeditated").

F. The Trial Court Properly Rejected Appellant's Claim That His Trial Counsel Made Damaging Admissions And Conceded The State's Case

Appellant asserts that his trial counsel abandoned his role as an advocate and essentially conceded the State's case in aggravation during the penalty phase. The trial court rejected this claim below, stating, in part:

¹⁰Based on the evidence presented by trial counsel below, the sentencing court found that appellant was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time he committed the murders.

...As to the comments made during the penalty phase, there was likewise no prejudice for the reasons set forth in the ruling on Claim III, Part 2. Again, Mr. Windom had already been convicted of first-degree premeditated murder, and counsel was attempting to restore credibility with the jury in order to make an argument for saving his client's life. There was no harm in conceding the validity of the jury's verdict during the penalty phase, and it was a reasonable trial strategy for Mr. Leinster to be realistic about the facts of the case in order to restore a measure of credibility to the defense as it moved into the penalty phase.

Finally, as set forth in Claim III, Part 2, the apparent concession that Mr. Windom deserved the death penalty was not a concession at all. Mr. Leinster's comments conceding that Mr. Windom deserved the death penalty and conceding the existence of the aggravator are taken entirely out of context. Windom had already been convicted of first-degree premeditated murder, and Mr. Leinster was faced with a daunting task. As he stated matter-of-factly, "My job is to try to save a man's life, end of story." would have strained his credibility, thereby contributing to the difficulty of his task, to argue the verdict was unjust to the same jury which would be imposing a sentence. It was reasonable trial strategy for Mr. Leinster to be realistic about the facts of the case in order to restore a measure of credibility to the defense. The record also demonstrates that he argued vigorously against the death penalty in general and argued that executing Mr. Windom would be just another act of murder. See penalty phase transcript, pages 90-99.

(PCR-26, 2654).

Once again, the State can add little to the trial court's detailed order denying relief on this claim. The State notes, however, that appellant fails to show what compelling alternative argument was available to counsel regarding the

aggravating circumstances. Certainly trial counsel would not want to argue the aggravating circumstances, reminding the jury again of the horrible crimes for which they had convicted the appellant. Moreover, appellant fails to suggest an alternative closing argument that would have resulted in a life recommendation under the facts of this case. See Griffin v. Delo, 33 F.3d 895, 903 (8th Cir. 1994)("We agree with the district court that there is no reason to conclude that a longer or more passionate closing argument would have resulted in an alternative sentence or that the brief dispassionate argument undermined the reliability of the jury's sentence of death.").

The State submits that argument during the penalty phase is uniquely a matter of trial strategy and tactics. Leinster's argument against the death penalty in general and arguing to the jury that it was wrong to take a human life under any circumstances was certainly a reasonable argument under the circumstances of this case. Moreover, trial defense counsel reminded the jury of trial testimony indicating they had never seen Windom look like he did on the date of the murders and tied that testimony to the statutory mental mitigator of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (PP. 97). Based upon this record, appellant has not carried his burden of establishing

either deficient performance or resulting prejudice.

Accordingly, the trial court's order denying relief must be affirmed.

Any assertion that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the language of the CCP instruction is procedurally <u>See Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988) ("Because a claim of error regarding the instructions given by the trial court should have been raised on direct appeal, the issue is not cognizable through collateral attack"). challenge to the instruction was raised on direct appeal and this claim may not be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Sireci v. State, 469 So. 2d 119, 120 (Fla. 1985)("[c]laims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel"). The trial court properly found this claim both without merit and/or procedurally barred below. (PCR-26, 2658-59). <u>See Brown v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 2000)(finding claim of error in CCP instruction procedurally barred from consideration in post-conviction proceeding); Maharaj v. State, 684 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 1996)(Post-conviction relief petitioner's claims which were either raised or could have been raised on direct appeal were properly denied without

an evidentiary hearing).

ISSUE II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING APPELLANT'S REMAINING POST-CONVICTION CLAIMS. (STATED BY APPELLEE).

A. Appellant's Claim That He Is "Innocent" of First Degree Murder And Innocent Of The Death Penalty Was Properly Rejected

Appellant generally attacks his death sentence without providing any factual basis or argument for this Court to conclude that he is either "innocent" of first degree murder or "innocent" of the death penalty. This vague claim was properly rejected by the trial court below. The trial court stated in part:

... Again, the evidence of guilt presented at trial was overwhelming, so there is no reasonable probability that Mr. Windom could show actual innocence, and he has not alleged any facts to support such a finding. His claim that he lacked the mental capacity necessary to form intent is likewise conclusory. His death penalty innocence claims are procedurally barred because they were already raised and rejected on direct appeal. And, he refers to mitigating evidence "discussed elsewhere" but fails to explain how it his "disproportionate." renders death sentence Therefore, this claim is insufficient because it lacks supporting facts, and it is summarily denied.

(PCR-26, 2657-58). Appellant's lack of supporting facts or argument is sufficient to deny this claim on appeal. See Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, n. 6 (Fla. 1999)).

This record reflects that appellant was a drug dealer whose chosen occupation was providing him with "stress" such as the

"rational" belief that someone was out to kill him and the probability of imprisonment based upon his recent arrests. Appellant wanted to settle all of his scores at once and recognized that his course of conduct would "get his name in the newspaper." Appellant murdered three people and attempted to murder a fourth. There is no question of his guilt and the death sentence is the only appropriate punishment based upon this record.

B. The Trial Court Properly Rejected Appellant's Claim That Florida's Standard Jury Instructions Improperly Shifted The Burden In The Penalty Phase

The trial court, citing Arbalaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 Fla. 2000), rejected this claim below as procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal. (PCR-26, 2558-59). Moreover, the trial court found that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to these standard instructions. Citing Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1995)(ineffective assistance claim based on failure to object to allegedly improper burden shifting instructions was without merit as a matter of law) and Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla. 1993)(Florida's standard jury instructions fully advise the jury of the importance of its role). The jury was properly instructed in this case. See Asay v. Moore, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S577 (Fla. 2002)("This Court has repeatedly rejected the

argument that the standard instruction shifted the burden to the defense.")(citations omitted).

C. The Trial Court Properly Rejected Appellant's Claim That
The Jury Was Improperly Instructed On The Cold,
Calculated, And Premeditated Aggravator And That Counsel
Was Ineffective In Failing To Object To The Instruction

The trial court rejected this claim as procedurally barred below, stating:

Mr. Windom alleged the jury instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor (CCP) was unconstitutionally vague and likely to cause jurors to automatically characterize first-degree murder as involving the CCP aggravator. However, this claim is procedurally barred. See Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 2000)(claim of error in CCP jury instruction is procedurally barred from consideration in collateral action); Pope v. State, 601 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1998)(claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to CCP instruction is procedurally barred).

(PCR-26, 2659-60).

The trial court, citing <u>Klokoc v. State</u>, 589 So. 2d 219, 222 (Fla. 1991), recognized that counsel did not have any legal basis for arguing the CCP aggravator was unconstitutionally vague. (PCR-26, 2659). This Court on direct appeal recognized that the evidence supporting this aggravator as to the first victim was compelling. <u>Windom v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1995). The murder of Johnnie Lee was cold, calculated and premeditated under any view of the evidence presented in this case. <u>See Sireci v. State</u>, 469 So. 2d 119, 120 (Fla.

1985)("[c]laims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.")

D. <u>The Trial Court Properly Rejected Appellant's Claim That</u> <u>His Death Sentences Are The Result Of An Automatic</u> Aggravating Circumstance

The trial court properly denied appellant's claim that his death sentence rests upon an automatic aggravator based upon the prior violent felony conviction aggravator being applied to his contemporaneous murder convictions. The trial court found this issue procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal. (PCR-26, 2660). See Vining v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S654 (Fla. 2002)(finding claim that defendant's death sentence rests on an unconstitutional automatic circumstance "should have been raised on direct appeal and thus is procedurally barred"). Aside from being procedurally barred, as appellant recognizes, this issue has been decidedly adversely to him by this Court. In fact, some variation of this issue was raised and rejected by this Court on direct appeal. Windom, 656 So. 2d at 440.

E. The Trial Court Properly Rejected Windom's Claim That Rules Promulgated By The Florida Bar Prohibiting Juror Interviews

¹¹There is nothing unfair about holding appellant accountable for having committed more than one murder. Appellant had ample time to reflect after murdering his first victim and refrain from committing his additional acts of murder.

In Unconstitutional

The trial court rejected this claim below, finding the issue procedurally barred. (PCR-26, 2660). Not only is the claim procedurally barred, but it is clearly without merit. Appellant has failed to identify any specific issue raising the possibility of juror misconduct which would warrant intrusive post-trial inquiry of the jurors. See Morris v. State, 811 So. 2d 661, 667 (Fla. 2002); Arbalaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000)).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State asks this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of the trial court denying appellant's motion for post-conviction relief.